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Stanley M. Herring ((PlaintiffQ was employed as a truck driver for U.S. Express. U.S. Express

contracted with Coca-Cola Enterprisesto ddiver soft drinks In Octobe of 2002,Plaintiff was at

Coca-Cola EnterprisesCracility in Bradley County, Tennessee, to pick up soft drinksfor ddivery

to Georgia. Toward theend of theloading process, Plaintiff expressed to Coca-Cola EnterprisesO
employees his concern tha the soft drinks had not been loaded propely. Despite repested

complaints made by Plaintiff as to the imprope loading, Plaintiff neverthdess accepted the
produds as loaded and drove to Georgia. Upon his arrival in Georgia, Plaintiff discovered tha

several cases of soft drinks had fallen to the floor of the truck. While picking up the fallen soft

drinks, Plaintiff was injured. Plaintiff sued Coca-Cola Enterprises for negligence. Coca-Cola
Enterprises filed a motion for summary judgment claiming Plaintiff@ claim was barred unde

Georgia law because Plaintiff had violated 49 C.F.R. & 3929 by failing to ensure that his cargo

was propely distributed and adequaely secured. The Tria Court agreed and further hdd tha

Plaintiff@ claim aso failed because he had assumed the risk unde Georgia law. Plaintiff

appedls, and we affirm.

Tenn. R. App. P. 3 Appeal asof Right; Judgment of the
Circuit Court Affirmed; Case Remanded

D. MICHAEL SWINEY, J., ddivered the opinion of the court, in which HERSCHEL P. FRANKS, P.J.,
and CHARLES D. SUSANO, JR., J., joined.

Jmmy W. Bilbo, Cleveland, Tennessee, for the Appdlants Stanley M. Herring and wife,
MelindaHerring.

K. Stephen Powers, Chatanooga Tennessee, for the Appdlees Coca-Cola Enterprises and/or
Johngon Coca-Cola Bottling Company a/k/a Johngon Coca-Cola Bottling Group, Inc. and/or



Johngon Coca-Cola and Dr. Peppea Bottling Company and/or Coca-Cola Enterprises Bottling
Companies.
OPINION

Background

This is a pesond injury lawsuit filed by Plaintiff after he was injured while
cleaning up soft drinkswhich had spilled in the back of his truck after he trangported them from
Tennessee to Georgia

In Octobe of 2002, Plaintiff was working for U.S. Express as a truck driver.
Defendant Coca-Cola Enterprises! had entered into a ddivery contract with U.S. Express.
According to thecomplaint:

On or about Octobea 19, 2002, [Plaintiff], while working
for U.S. Express, a trucking company which contracted with the
Defendants to haul ther produd, was lawfully on the DefendantsO
premises located E in Cleveland, Bradley County, Tennessee, to
pick up aload.

On tha date, the DefendantsO agents, servants, andfor
employees placed severa cases on the traller opeaated by
[Plaintiff].

[Plaintiff] left the location and drove to his destinaion in
College Park, Georgia, to ddiver theload.

When thetrailer was opened, it was discovered that several
cases of the produd which [were] in plastic bottles had fallen.

Without the assistance of any othe peson or pasons
[Plaintiff] began picking up and restacking all of the produd. As
he did so, he expeienced a very shap, stabbing pan in his back.
Additiondly, as he was picking up and restacking the produd, a
stack also fell onto him causng further and/or additiond injuries
and/or aggravation to theinjury to his back.

The Defendants, by and throughthe acts and omissions of
its agents, servants and/or employees, are liable for theinjuries and
damages sudained by [Plaintiff] by and through the laws and
prindples of agency, vicariousliability and/or respondet supeior.

1 Plaintiff sued Coca-Cola Enterprises and/or Johnston Coca-Cola Bottling Company a/k/a Johnston Coca-
Cola Bottling Group, Inc. and/or Johnston Coca-Cola and Dr. Pepper Bottling Company and/or CocaCola
Enterprises Bottling Companies. For ease of reference, we will collectively refer to the defendants as efendant.O



The load of produd was negligently packaged by the
Defendants and such was a direct and proximate cause of the
injuries and damages sugained by [Plaintiff] .E

Defendant respondel to the complaint, generaly denying any liability to Plaintiff.
Defendant averred that Plaintiff] himself ingoected said produd after it was placed in thetrailer
and further, tha [Plaintiff] signed off on, or accepted, said load of freightO Defendant also
raised the defense of Plaintiff( alleged comparative fault.

Defendant filed a motion for summary judgment claiming, anong other things
tha 49 C.F.R. @ 3929 applied and that Plaintiff had violated this regulation because he failed to
assure himself tha the cargo was propealy distributed and adequaely secured. Defendant also
clamed that, based on a recorded statement given by Plaintiff as well as his responses given
during his depostion, Plaintiff:

was admittedly aware of the defects he alleges in the loading of
soft drinks on his vehicle at the time he accepted the load for
trangoort. Moreove, as a matter of federal law unde the federd
motor carrier safety regulations it was [Plaintiff@] duty to ingpect
and accept or regect the load unde the shipment terms and
procedures utilized here, and his claim is, therefore, barred unde
the applicable regulationsE

The Tria Court initially denied Defendant@ motion for summary judgment.
According to the Trial Court, there was evidence in the record tha both Plaintiff and Defendant
were nggligent and a violation of a statutory duty by Plaintiff should not defeat his action for
negligence on behdf of Defendant so long as Plaintiff@ fault was not equd to or greater than
tha of Defendant.

Defendant thereafter filed a motion to reconsder the denia of its motion for
summary judgment. Defendant clamed, inter alia, tha the Trial Court incorrectly applied
Tennessee subdantive law, as oppo®d to Georgia subgantive law. Defendant then claimed that,
pursuant to Georgia law and the applicable federal regulation, Plaintiff@ violation of that federal
regulation entitled Defendant to summary judgnrent as a matter of law.

After consdering the arguments set forth by Defendant and Plaintiff@ oppostion
to the motion to reconsder, the Trial Court entered an order reversing its previous denia of
Defendant@ motion for summary judgment. According to the Trial Court:

On reconsderation, the coutt is of the opinion that Georgia,
rather than Tennessee, law is applicable and tha recovey by
plaintiff is completely bared by Georgia law, if not tha of
Tennessee.

Both paties agree, and the court conaurs, that baanang the
factors set forth in Hattaway v. McKinley, 830 SW.2d 53 59



(Tenn. 1992)results in the application of Georgia subdantive law
in this Tennessee case.

Plaintiff arguesE tha thefederal regulation placing onthe
carrier the responsbility for propely loading the cargo would,
unde either Georgia or Tennessee law, create a comparative fault
case if defendant shippe was aso guilty of negligently stacking
the cargo, even thoughthe defect was paent. Defendant argues
tha plaintiff is completely bared unde Georgia law because
plaintiff was aware of the imprope loading of the cargo and,
therefore, defendant had no duty to plaintiff himself for the safe
loading of the cargo, tha being his resporsibility unde the federal
regulation.

The Trid Court then discussed the Tennessee Supreme Court@ opinion in Perez
v. McConkey, 872 S.W.2d 897 (Tenn. 1994) Having foundno Georgia cases directly on point,
the Trial Court explained tha Perez was the (best clueO of Georgia subgantive law in the
relevant area. In Perez, oneof the primary issues was the viability of the assumption of the risk
dodrine with the advent of comparative fault. In discussing whether the dodrine of implied
assumption of the risk survived in Tennessee following the adopion of compaative fault, the
Supreme Court discussed the law of other states, stating:

[T]he greatest blow to the doctrine of implied assumption of risk
has been the overwhdming acceptance and adopion by mod states
of comparative fault or compaative negligence prindples. Of the
forty-five states, other than Tennessee, tha apply prindples of
compaative fault, only five states - Georgia, Nebraska,
Mississippi, Rhodeldand and South Dakota - retain assumption of
risk as acomplete bar to recovery.

Perez, 872 SW.2d at 903 (footnotes omitted)(citing Parzini v. Center Chemical Co., 129 Ga.
App.868,201S.E.2d808(1973). TheTria Cour then set forth thefollowing from Perez

Thetypes of issues raised by implied assumption of risk are readily
susceptible to andysis in terms of the common-law conaept of duty
and the prindples of comparative negligence law.

* * %

While we agree tha those situationsdescribed by commentators as
involving the concept of primary implied assumption of risk will
preclude recovery unde a scheme of comparative fault, the same
result will be obtained, without any unrecessary confugon, if
Tennessee courts use the common-law conaept of duty to andyze
theissues.



Perez, 872S.W.2d at 905.

After setting forth the abovediscussion from Perez, the Trial Court conduded
tha the foregoing Qast[ed] doubtOon the propriety of the origina ruling that Defendant was not
entitled to summary judgment. The Tria Court then conduded that it was Plaintiff, rather than
Defendant, who had Qhe duty to ensure safe loading and [he chose to carry the cargo with the
known risk tha it was negligently loaded.O The Trial Court furthe condudel tha, unde
Georgia law, Plaintiff assumed the risk when he Qeft unsure that the cargo was propely loaded,
and this assumption of primary implied risk completely bars plaintiff from recoveryE. O

Plaintiff appedls raising two issues, which we quoe:

Are defendants entitled to summary judgnent, inasmuch as
49 C.F.R. @ 3929 requires a truck driver, invdved in interstate
commerce, to ensure that his Gargo is propaly distributed and
adequaely secured,O despite negligence of the defendantsO
employees in loading and ingoecting theload for trangoort?

Are defendants entitled to summary judgnent, onthe basis
tha plaintiff Stanley Herring assumed the risk of accepting the
loaded cargo from Coca-Cola, and is therefore bared from
recovery unde Georgialaw?

Discussion

In Blair v. West Town Mall, our Supreme Court reiterated the standards applicable
when appdlate courts are reviewing a motion for summary judgment. Blair v. West Town Mall,
130S.W.3d 761 (Tenn. 2004. TheBlair Court stated:

The standards govening an appdlate court® review of a
motion for summary judgment are well settled. Since our inquiry
involves purely a question of law, no presumption of correctness
attaches to the lower count@® judgmrent, and our task is confined to
reviewing the record to determine whether the requirements of
Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 56 have been met. See Staples
v. CBL & Assoc, Inc, 15 SW.3d 83, 88 (Tenn. 2000} Hunter v.
Brown, 955 S\W.2d 49, 50-51 (Tenn. 1997) Cowden v. Sovan
BankiCentral Souh, 816 SW.2d 741, 744 (Tenn. 1991)
Tennessee Rule of Civil Procedure 56.04 provides tha summary
judgnent is appropriate where: 1) there is no genuine issue with
regad to the material facts relevant to the clam or defense
contained in the motion, and 2) the moving party is entitled to a
judgment as a matter of law on the undisputed facts. Staples, 15
S.W.3dat 88.



When the paty seeking summary judgnment makes a
propaly suppoted motion, the burden shifts to the
nonnoving party to set forth specific facts establishing the
existence of disputed, materia facts which mug be
resolved by thetrier of fact.

To propealy suppot its motion, the moving paty
mug either affirmatively negae an essential element of the
nonmoving paty® clam or condusvely establish an
affirmative defense.  If the moving party fails to negae a
claimed basis for the suit, the non-moving party® burden to
produce evidence establishing the existence of a genuine
issuefor trial is not triggered and the motion for summary
judgment mug fail. If the moving paty successfully
negates a clamed basis for the action, the nonmoving
paty may not smply rest upon the pleadings but mug
offer proof to establish the existence of the essentia
elements of theclaim.

Blair, 130S.W.3d at 763-64, 767 (quoing Stples, 15 S W.3d at 88-89).

Our Supreme Court also has provided ingruction regarding assessing the evidence
when dealing with amotionfor summary judgmnent, stating:

The standads govening the assessment of evidence in the
summary judgment context are also well established. Courts mug
view the evidence in the light mog favorable to the nonnoving
paty and mug aso draw al reasonable inferences in the
nonnoving paty@® favor. See Robinson v. Omer, 952 SW.2d at
426; Byrd v. Hall, 847 SW.2d at 210-11. Courts should grant a
summary judgnent only when both the facts and the inferences to
be drawn from the facts permit a reasonable person to reach only
oneconduson. Ses McCall v. Wilder, 913S.W.2d 150,153 (Tenn.
1995) Carvell v. Bottorms, 900S.W.2d 23, 26 (Tenn. 1995)

Staplesv. CBL & Assocs,, Inc., 15SW.3d 83, 89 (Tenn. 2000.

Defendant filed Plaintiff@ depostion in suppot of its motion for summary
judgment. This depostion leaves no doubttha Plaintiff knew before leaving the Defendant@
facility that the cargo had been impropealy loaded. Specifically, Plaintiff testified tha the soft
drinks were not loaded onto his truck propely because some of the pdlets of soft drinks were
only single wrapped prior to trangoort, and they should have been doubk wrapped. Plaintiff
described thisimprope loading of the soft drinksonto histruck as follows:



Q. Now, when you went into the facility and he was coming
aroundthe comer, wha did hehave on hisforklift?

A.  Two pdlets of single wrap Cokes.E

Q. [B]efore tha point, had you looked in the back of your
trailer?

A. Yes, gr.
Q. What did you see?

A. Thelast two pdlets he had loaded on there before he was
coming around with the last two prope pdlets had not been
wrapped togeher. They were jus two individud stacks with wrap
around each individud stack, which is not going to work. He
knowstha. | told him, Y oudidn®wrap thelast two pdlets.E

Q. And in your opinion wha needed to be donewas to wrap
thos last two togeher. Correct?

A. Yes, sir. Tomake them solid.
Q. Which givesit greater stability.
A. Yes, sir.E

Q. When you saw him coming around the corner on his
forklift, yousaid to him what?

A. 1 looked in my truck and | said, You didn® wrap these
pdlets togeher. They®e not going to ride He goes, Oh, they®e
going to ride. He said, I® make sure of tha. | said, No, they®e
notgoingto ride. 1@ like for youto park thos, pull those out, and
wrap them, go ahead and wrap them togeher. 1@n not doing tha;
|@®n running out of time. And | said, Oh, please, man. | said, |
know when | get to Atlanta 1®n gaing to have a down load if you
don®wrap those. He said, No, man, | ain®doingit; you can take
it orleave it.

WEell, | was not going to argue with him at tha point
because he probably would have said jack the trailer down and get
out of here, and then | would have been fired. So | said, No, all
right, jug go ahead. Jug make sure the last two are wrapped.
Because he hadn®even wrapped tho yet.



So he E goes back up there and he comes back with the
shoddest looking wrap job | ever saw in my life. You know, he
attempted to wrap them. And | said, Man, this is ridiculous 1@n
going to not even get to go home tonight because of this. He said,
It will ride. | said, All right, shoot go ahead.E

| went onupto thefront And| told Joe | said, Joethisis
not going to ride  He said, it looksall rightto me.2 | said, Look,
he only wrapped it onelayer. | mean, tha® jus going to tear to
pieces. Hesaid, It will rideE

The federal regulation which Defendant claims Plaintiff violated is found at 49
C.F.R. 139293 Thisregulation provides, in relevant pat, as follows:

() Gengad. A driver may not opaate a commercial motor vehicle
and a motor carrier may not require or pemit a driver to opegate a
commercia motor vehicle unless b

(1) The commerciad motor vehicle® cargo is propaly
distributed and adequaely secured as specified in oo
393100through 393136 of this subchgpter E .

(b) Drivers of trucks and truck tractors. Except as provided in
paragraph (b)(4) of this section, the driver of a truck or truck
tractor mug B

(1) Assure himself/herself tha the provisions of paragraph
(@) of this section have been complied with before he/she
drives tha commercial motor vehicle E. 4

The Trial Count® order granting summary judgment is not entirely clear as to the
exact basis upon which the grant of summary judgnent was made. Defendant@ motion for
summary judgment was based primarily upon its argument tha Plaintiff@ violation of the
preceding federal regulation precluded any recovery by Plaintiff in this lawsuit. The Tria
Court@® order appears to agree with this assertion. As set forth previoudy, the Tria Court
certainly was aware of Defendant@ position when it stated in the find order tha Defendant
claimed it had no duty to plaintiff himself for the safe loading of the cargo, tha being his

2 In arecorded statement given prior to his deposition, Plaintiff stated that when he informed QoeOthat the
wrapping around the soft drinks Qloesn® look right,OJoe agreed stating ONo, it doesn@.0

3 The Georgia Public Service Commission has adopted 49 C.F.R. & 392.9. See Rule 4-1.392 of the Georgia
Public Service Commission.

4 Plaintiff stated at oral argument that while he agreed before the Trial Court that Georgia law applies with
respect to the legal effect of Plaintiff@ claimed violation of 49 C.F.R. a 392.9, he never agreed that Georgia law
applied as to assumption of the risk. We find this issue to be waived because it was not addressed in Plaintiff@
brief. In any event, Plaintiff offered no explanation at oral argument as to why Georgia law would apply for one
substantive issue, but not the second substantive issue.



responsbility unde the federal regulationO Furthermore, the Trial Court stated toward the
conduson of its order that it was Plaintiff who had Qhe duty to ensure safe loading and [he]
chos to carry the cargo with the known risk tha it was negligently loaded.O Accordingy, we
condudetha Plaintiff@ alleged violation of 49 C.F.R. 3929 formed onebasis uponwhich the
Tria Court bdieved summary judgmnent was appropriate.

The Trial Court dso found a second basis upon which to award summary
judgment. Specifically, the Trial Court deermined tha, pursuant to Georgia law, Plaintiff
assumed the risk when he Qeft unsure tha the cargo was propealy loaded, and this assumption of
primary implied risk completely bars plaintiff from recoveryE. O

At ora argument before this Count, Plaintiff argued that assumption of the risk
was not explicitly raised in Defendant@ motion for summary judgnent and, therefore, the Trial
Court erred when it relied on tha dodrine when dismissing this case. We regject this argument
because Plaintiff never raised this argument anywhere in his brief. This argument is, therefore,
waived. Since Plaintiff has waived this argument, in resolving this appeal we also will congder
whether, unde Georgialaw, Plaintiff claim is barred by his assumption of therisk.

In FranKin Stinless Corp. v. Marlo Trang. Corp., 748F.2d 865 (4th Cir. 1984)
the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit discussed how 49 C.F.R. & 3929
affected clams for indemnity and contribution between a shippe and a carrier as to claims
broughtby athird party. TheFranKin Court stated:

Regulations of the Interstate Commerce Commission
prohibit a carrier from opeating a motor vehicle unless the cargo
is propely distributed and adequaely secured. 49 C.F.R. @ 3929
(1979)E

Responsbility for obvioudy imprope loading generdly
rests on the carrier, and it mug indemnify the shippe even though
the shippe loaded thetruck. General Electric Co. v. Moretz, 270
F.2d 780 (4th Cir. 1959) (contract of carriage indudes right to
indemnity); United States v. Savage Truck LineInc., 209 F.2d 442
(4th Cir. 1953)(prinapd fault lay with the carrier). Impostion of
liability onthecarrier andits obligaion to indemnify the shippe is
subject to an exception arising out of the acts of the shippa. The
allocation of responsbility between the shippe and the carrier for
impropea loading is ddineated in Sawage 209 F.2d at 445, as
follows:

The primary duty as to the safe loading of propety
is therefore upon the carrier.  When the shipper
assumes the responsbility of loading, the genea
rule is tha he becomes liable for the defects which
are latent and concealed and cannotbe discerned by
ordinary observation by the agents of the carrier;



but if the imprope loading is appaent, the carrier
will be liable notwithganding the negligence of the
shippe.

Franlin, 748 F.2d at 868 (quaing U.S v. Sawage Truck Line Inc., 209 F.2d 442, 445 (4th Cir.
1953).

Regadless of the status of assumption of therisk in Tennesseg, it isalive and well
in Georgia. The Georgia Legidature has codified the assumption of therisk dodrine Ga. Code
Ann.a 51-11-7 provides as follows:

a 51-11-7. Diligence of plaintiff.

If the plantiff by ordinay care could have avoided the
consequences to himself caused by the defendant@ negligence, he
is not entitled to recover. In othe cases the defendant is not
relieved, althoughthe plaintiff may in some way have contributed
to theinjury sugained.

In Vaughnv. Pleasent, 471 S.E.2d 866 (Ga. 1996) the Georgia Supreme Court
discussed assumption of therisk asfollows:

The affirmative defense of assumption of the risk bars a
plaintiff from recovering on a negligence claim if it is established
tha he Quithout coercion of circumstances, chooses a course of
action with full knowledge of its danger and while exercising a
free choice as to whether to engagein the act or not.O In Georgia,
a ddendant asserting an assumption of the risk defense mug
establish tha the plaintiff (1) had actud knowledge of the dange;
(2) undestood and appreciated the risks associated with such
dange; and (3) voluntarily exposed himself to thoe risks.

Knowledge of therisk is the watchword of assumption of
risk,0 and means both actual and subjective knowledge on the
plaintiff's pat. Theknowledgethat a plaintiff who assumes a risk
mug subjectively possess is tha of the specific, paticular risk of
harm assodated with the activity or condition tha proximately
causes injury. The knowledge requirement does not refer to a
plaintiff's comprehenson of genera, non-specific risks tha might
be assodated with such conditions or activities. Asstated by Dean
Prosser:

In its smplest and primary sense, assumption of the
risk means tha the plaintiff, in advance, has given
his consent to relieve the defendant of an obligaion
of condud toward him, and to take his chances of



injury from a known risk arising from what the
defendantisto door leave undone

Vaughn 471 S.E.2d at 868 (citationsand foothotes omitted; emphasisin theorigind).

In the present casg, it is undisputed tha Plaintiff had actud knowledge tha his
truck had been impropealy loaded. As evident by his comments that the soft drinks were Qnot
going to rideOand he was Qyoing to have a down loadOif the palets were not propely wrapped,
Plaintiff certainly undestood and appreciated therisk of theimpropea loading. Notwithganding
this knowledge and appreciation of the risk, Plaintiff neverthdess proceeded to accept the soft
drinks as loaded and travel to Georgia, in violation of 49 C.F.R. @ 3929. Plaintiff correctly
anticipated that he would have a down load when hearrived in Georgia. A natural consquence
of having a down load is tha the down load is going to have to be cleaned up. The undisputed
material facts demondrate tha Plaintiff, Qvithoutcoercion of circumstances, [chog] a course of
action with full knowedge of its dange and while exercising a free choice as to whether to
engagein the act or notO Vaughn 471 S.E.2d at 868; see also Raybum v. Georgia Power Co.,
643 S.E.2d 385,389 (Ga. Ct. App.2007)

Plaintiff argues tha the assurances made by Defendant(® employees tha the soft
drinks as loaded were Qyoing to rideO somehow amounied to xoercionOwhich negates
Defendant@® claim tha Plaintiff assumed the risk. We disagree as we find no evidence of
QoercionOin this record, only Plaintiff@ claim of such.

In Youngv. Brandt, 485 S.E.2d 519 (Ga. Ct. App.1997) the plaintiff was injured
while horseback riding. The plaintiff was an experienced horsewomanOand expressed concern
prior to theride tha the horse had been impropealy saddled. The plaintiff was assured tha she
would (be fineO Id. at 521.In reversing a jury verdict for the plaintiff, the Georgia Court of
Appeds stated:

[Ulnde traditiond assumption of the risk standads we find the
trial court erred by denying appdlantsOmotion for a directed
verdict because the evidence showed tha Brandt, an experienced,
highly capable horsewoman, was aware of all the danges
assodated with riding Loverboy yet freely chose to ride him
anyway. This congituted assumption of therisk as a matter of law.
QAssumption of risk assumes tha the actor, without coercion of
circumstances, chooss a course of action with full knowiedge of
its danga and while exercising a free choice as to whethe to
engage in the act or notO (Citation and pundudion omitted.)
Beringau® v. Fogleman Truck Lines, 200 Ga. App. 822, 8234),
409S.E.2d524.

Young 485SE.2d at 522. See also FranKin Stinless Corp. v. Marlo Transg. Corp., 748F.2d
865, 869 (4th Cir. 1984) O 'he jury@ findng tha the trucker reasonably relied on Franklin@S
assurance aboutthe safety of theload is tantamount to a finding tha the defect was not open and



obvious A trucker could not reasonably rely on assurances that an open and obvious defect in
loading was safe.O(emphasis added)).

In Young the Georgia Court of Appesls explained that Qa]lthoughassumption of
the risk is ordinaily a jury question E, in plain, papable, and indisputable cases resolution of
the issue by a jury is not required.O Young 485 S.E.2d at 522 (citations omitted); see also
O(Neal v. Sikes, 609 S.E.2d 734, 735 (Ga. Ct. App. 2005) Plaintiff, without question, knew
before leaving Defendant@ busness tha the load was unsafe. Despite this knowledge Plaintiff
chose to drive his truck to Georgia with this unsafe load. We condudetha the present case is
such a plain, papable and indisputableOcase of assumption of the risk. The judgnent of the
Tria Court tha Plaintiff@ claim is barred because he assumed therisk is, therefore, affirmed.

We further condudetha even if Plaintiff did nat assume therisk, his claim must
neverthdess fail because of his clear violation of 49 C.F.R. @ 3929. As set forth in FranKin,
supra, the responsbility for imprope loading rests generally with the carrier and it is the carrier
who has the Qorimary dutyOto ensure safe loading. FranKin, 748 F.2d at 868. Because the
imprope loading of the soft drinks was readily appaent to Plaintiff, the responsibility for
imprope loading, as between Plaintiff and Defendant, does not shift to Defendant, even though
it was Defendant@ employess who loaded the cargo. A contrary holding would completely
negate the provisonsof 49 C.F.R. @ 3929. Plaintiff, as thedriver of thetrudk, was required by
49 C.F.R. @ 3929 to enaure tha his cargo was Qoropely distributed and adequaely secured E. O
It is undisputed tha Plaintiff not only did not do this, but knew before starting his trip tha his
cargo was not safely loaded. Because Plaintiff had the primary responsbility, his negligence, in
essence, trumps any negligence by Defendant, at least with respect to the present lawsuit. See
Batts v. Cracker Barrel Old County Sore, Inc.,, 464 S.E.2d 829, 831 (Ga. Ct. App. 1955) (A
person cannot undetake to do wha obvioudy is a dangeaousthing, even if heis directed by
anoher, without assuming the risks inddent thereto and without himself beng guilty of such
lack of due care for his own safety as to bar him from recovery.O(emphasis in the origind;
citations omitted)). Thus we likewise affirm the Trial Court® condusion tha Plaintiff(3
violation of 49 C.F.R. @ 3929 bars hisclaim aganst Defendant.

Conclusion
Thejudgrnent of theTria Court is affirmed, and this case is remanded to the Trid

Court for collection of the cogs bdow. Cods on apped are taxed to the Appdlants, Stanley and
MelindaHerring, and ther surety.

D. MICHAEL SWINEY, JUDGE



